Hemodialysis access monitoring and surveillance, how and why?

Nabil J Haddad¹, Johan Winoto¹, Ganesh Shidham¹, Anil K Agarwal¹

¹Department of Medicine, Nephrology Division, The Ohio State University Medical Center, Columbus, Ohio

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. Abstract
- 2. Introduction
- 3. Clinical monitoring
- 4. Surveillance techniques
 - 4.1. Direct access flow measurement
 - 4.2. Duplex ultrasound
 - 4.3. Venous pressure monitoring
 - 4.4. Measurement of access recirculation
- 5. Do monitoring and surveillance impact outcomes?
- 6. What should a clinician do?
- 7. References

1. ABSTRACT

Hemodialysis access is the 'life line' for patients on renal replacement therapy. Vascular access failure and complications are the second leading cause for hospitalization of patients on hemodialysis. The concept of access monitoring is based on the basic tenet that identification of patients at risk of developing future access failure, coupled with elective intervention will decrease the incidence of hemodialysis access failure and improve patient outcomes. Clinical monitoring and surveillance techniques are very effective in detecting hemodialysis access lesions. However, the studies analyzing the impact of monitoring and surveillance have yielded a variety of controversial results, which is likely the result of the differences in methodology and use of a variety of parameters. Despite the controversy surrounding the value of monitoring and surveillance, the 'Conditions of Coverage' for dialysis providers mandate monitoring with appropriate and timely referrals to achieve and sustain vascular access. This review discusses pros and cons of various monitoring and surveillance techniques and suggests a strategy based on current literature.

2. INTRODUCTION

Hemodialysis access is the 'life line' for patients on dialysis and is the most important component in determining the success or failure of dialysis therapy. Despite this recognition, vascular access failure and complications are the second leading cause for hospitalization accounting for more than 20% of hospitalizations in hemodialysis patients resulting in over \$1.5 billion expenditure in United States annually (1). Additional costs are incurred from missed treatments and placement of temporary dialysis catheters with significant inconvenience, pain and infection risks when vascular access fails. Failure to detect access dysfunction that can lead to its failure has consequences of increased morbidity and mortality (2-3). Thus, vascular access complications continue to be one of the most difficult obstacles in optimal care of patients on dialysis.

The concept of access monitoring is based on the basic tenet that identification of patients at risk of developing future access failure, coupled with elective intervention (such as correction of stenotic lesions), will decrease the incidence of hemodialysis access failure and improve patient outcomes. The updated 2006 KDOQI Clinical Practice Guidelines for vascular access defined the

terms of monitoring and surveillance of vascular access. Monitoring refers to examination and evaluation of the vascular access by means of physical examination and other data obtained routinely in the course of hemodialysis. Surveillance refers to periodic evaluation of vascular access by utilizing tests that involve special instruments. A number of studies have indeed demonstrated the ability of access monitoring and intervention program to decrease the incidence of thrombosis and prolong access life (4) and to decrease the need for emergent interventions (5-6). Although there is consensus that monitoring the access is useful in detecting stenosis (7-11). Several studies have reported that use of these monitoring/surveillance techniques may not assist in prediction of thrombosis or alter the outcome (12-14). Based on the promising results of the earlier studies, KDOQI (Kidney Disease Outcomes Quality Initiative) guidelines have recommended prospective periodic monitoring and surveillance of fistula and grafts for early recognition of access dysfunction followed by referral for diagnostic evaluation and treatment of dysfunction (15). In 2008, Centers for Medicaid and Medicare Services issued an ESRD Interpretive Guidance Update stating that 'the dialysis facility must have an ongoing program for vascular access monitoring and surveillance for early detection of failure and to allow timely referral of patients for intervention when indications of significant stenosis are present (16). angiography remains the gold standard for diagnosing inflow and outflow stenotic lesions, clinical monitoring and methods of surveillance use efficient techniques to detect access abnormalities to plan proper intervention. Clinical monitoring and surveillance techniques suggested by 2006 K/DOQI guidelines include physical examination, measurement of access recirculation, measurement of static venous pressure and dynamic venous pressure, intra-access flow and vascular access imaging. In this article we will discuss the methods of monitoring and surveillance, as well as the evidence regarding pros and cons of such techniques.

3. CLINICAL MONITORING

Physical examination of the vascular access should be done routinely to evaluate for signs of stenosis, which include persistent swelling of the arm, presence of collateral veins, prolonged bleeding after needle withdrawal, and changed characteristics of pulse or thrill in the outflow vein. In combination with hemodialysis adequacy (URR/Kt/V) and other information obtained from the dialysis session, physical examination may detect up to 80- 90% of stenotic lesions in AVF in experienced hands. Asif et al showed that physical examination can accurately detect and localize stenoses in a great majority of arteriovenous fistula when performed correctly by an experienced nephrologist (17). Similarly, one study showed that the accuracy of physical examination for the diagnosis of AVF stenosis was 88%, with sensitivity and specificity of 96% and 76%, respectively, while the accuracy, sensitivity and specificity of intra-access pressure (IAP) were 71%, 60% and 88%, respectively (18). Signs and symptoms of access dysfunction that are assessed in clinical monitoring are related to both inflow and outflow stenotic lesions (Tables 1 & 2). It is important to mention that juxta-anastomotic venous outflow stenotic lesions are hard to differentiate from inflow arterial stenotic lesions, and both, inflow and outflow lesions, have shared signs and symptoms. All aspects of physical examination, inspection, palpation, and auscultation need to be applied in evaluation of access function and utilized in conjunction with other surveillance techniques.

4. SURVEILLANCE TECHNIQUES

Direct access flow monitoring, duplex ultrasound and direct or derived static venous dialysis pressure measurement are the most common methods of surveillance.

4.1. Direct access flow measurement

Access flow monitoring is the preferred and most recommended method of surveillance for stenotic lesions. Access flow (Qa) can be measured by using ultrasound dilution, conductivity dialysance, duplex ultrasound, thermal dilution, magnetic resonance angiography, Crit-line (optodilution by ultrafiltration and direct transcutaneous measurement), glucose pump infusion technique, urea dilution and differential conductivity. These different methods have been shown to be effective in detecting stenotic lesions.

The principle of all indicator dilution techniques is based on the introduction of a change in the dialyzed blood by infusing a substance (saline) or creating a physical change (temperature), which is detected by sensors and is used to calculate Qa. The indicator is infused prior to the venous needle after reversal of dialysis lines, at which time the total flow in the AVG/AVF equals both access flow and dialysis machine pump flow. The portion of the indicator that enters the arterial needle is in reversed ratio to Qa.

In ultrasound dilution, ultrasound sensors measure the difference in protein concentration and produce dilution curves, after the infusion of saline. It is based on different ultrasound velocity in saline and blood. As the ultrasound velocity is slower in saline compared with blood, a bolus of infused saline after reversal of dialysis lines is detected by the ultrasound transducer (20). These dilution curves are then used to measure Qa. The need for the presence of an ultrasound technologist, ultrasound dilution machine, and maintenance program are significant limitations of this technique.

In thermal dilution the rate of increase in temperature is measured by a sensor after infusion of cold saline via the cannulation needles with reversed lines. The degree of change in temperature is used to measure the access flow. This technique has similar limitations as ultrasound dilution. However, thermal dilution test can be performed by a dialysis nurse. One does not need an ultrasound technician or ultrasound machine to perform this test. The sensors are located on the HD machine. Main limitation of this technique is that it is available only on certain machines and validation of results is limited.

In conductivity dialysance measurement an online clearance monitor automated for measurements of conductivity dialysance is used to measure Qa. (21-22).

Table 1. Signs and symptoms of inflow stenotic lesions

Tuble 1. Signs und Symptoms of mine w stemotic resions	
Α	Decreased access flow
В	Decreased hemodialysis adequacy (URR/Kt/V) in the absence of other causative factors
С	Systolic accentuation of bruit on auscultation over the site of AV anastomosis in AVF and AA in AVG
D	Poor filling and pulsations of the outflow vein distal to the site of manual occlusion of AVF with other signs of decreased access flow (normally expected to augment upon compression)
Е	High negative arterial pressure during hemodialysis (below -200 mm Hg with 15 gauge needles and a blood flow of 400ml/min (6, 19)
F	Difficult cannulation

Table 2. Signs and symptoms of outflow stenotic lesions

Α	Decreased access flow
В	Decreased hemodialysis adequacy (URR/Kt/V) without change in
	dialysis prescription
C	Systolic accentuation of bruit over the outflow vein in AVF and
	venous anastomosis in AVG
D	Increased pulsation of AVG and the outflow vein distal to the
	stenotic area in AVF
Е	Swelling of the distal limb and site of hemodialysis access because
	of increased venous pressure
F	Development of collateral veins
G	Prolonged bleeding after cannulation of both AVF and AVG in the
	absence of excessive/or change in anticoagulation
Н	Drawing blood clots from AVG/AVF after cannulation
I	High venous pressure during hemodialysis (more than 125 mmHg
	with the use of 15 gauge needles and blood flow of 200 mL/min on
	three successive measurements (19)
J	High negative arterial pressure during hemodialysis with juxta
	anastomotic lesions (below -200 mm Hg with 15 gauge needles
	and a blood flow
	of 400ml/min) (19)
K	Difficult cannulation and infiltration
L	Poorly collapsible AVF with arm elevation

The real-time dialysance of sodium is measured, which can be considered equivalent to the dialysance of urea. This technique utilizes an increase in sodium concentration of the dialysate going into the dialyzer as an indicator. This technique can be done by any trained dialysis technician, is less expensive and correlates highly with ultrasound dilution technique.

The optodilutional Delta-H method, using the Crit-Line III monitor utilizes an optical detector to measure arterial blood hematocrit (23-25). It is based on the reverse relationship between hematocrit and blood volume. In this technique, hematocrit changes induced by increasing ultrafiltration are continuously measured by an optical sensor placed between the arterial line and the dialyzer. In this technique: Qa = (UFmax - UFmin) x Hct (rev max)/ (Hct Δ rev - Hct Δ norm). Where Qa is access flow; UFmax is maximum ultrafiltration; UFmin is minimum ultrafiltration; Hct (rev max) is the maximum hematocrit with reversed hemodialysis lines; Hct Δ rev is the change in arterial hematocrit with reversed lines; Hct Δ norm is arterial hematocrit change without reversal of dialysis lines.

The Critline III TQA system from HemaMetrics uses a transcutaneous optical flow sensor, placed directly distal to the venous access needle and does not require reversal of dialysis lines (25).

In the glucose pump infusion technique venous blood glucose concentration is measured before and after constant glucose infusion into the arterial needle. The infusion concentration and the pre and post venous blood glucose concentrations are then used to calculate Qa.

4.2. Duplex ultrasound

This technique with color-flow ultrasound provides flow measurement, in addition to structural findings (20, 26). It is highly sensitive and specific in detecting stenotic lesions; however, it is also expensive and requires trained ultrasound professional. Accuracy of Doppler Ultrasound is extremely close to angiography in diagnosis of stenosis of vascular accesses, with sensitivity of 92% to 100% and specificity of 94% to 97% (27-29)

4.3. Venous pressure monitoring

Dynamic venous pressure is measured by the dialysis machine pressure transducer at the beginning of hemodialysis using a 15 gauge needle with a blood flow of 200 mL/min. The finding of venous pressure above 125-150 mmHg on 3 consecutive dialysis sessions is abnormal (10). Static venous pressure is measured by a manometer connected to the access needle before starting the dialysis pump. This pressure is normalized to systemic pressure and is normally less than 0.4. According to the 2006 K/DOQI guidelines, patients with a venous segment static pressure ratio of above 0.5 in AVG and AVF, or arterial segment static pressure ratio of above 0.75 in AVG should be referred for further evaluation (30). It is less informative in AVF than in AVG and is not considered an optimal screening test for both AVF and AVG.

4.4. Measurement of access recirculation

Access recirculation can be measured by nonbased dilutional methods by utilizing the thermodilution technique or other bolus techniques (6). The percentage of the dialyzed extracorporeal blood that returns to the access arterial inflow without systemic equilibration determines the amount of recirculation. The thermodilution technique is based on thermal dilution for access flow measurements and utilizes a blood temperature monitor (BTM) (31). The temperature of arterial and venous blood is measured by two sensors without direct contact with the blood. A thermal bolus is generated by changing the dialysate temperature by 2.5- 3 Celsius degrees for 3-5 minutes without injection of cold saline and the percentage of both access and cardiopulmonary recirculation is measured. The pitfall of this technique is the difficulty in recirculation separating the access from cardiopulmonary recirculation if sensors with long response time are used. This can be avoided by using sensors with short response time.

5. DO MONITORING AND SURVEILLANCE IMPACT OUTCOMES?

The primary aim of a monitoring or surveillance program is to reduce adverse vascular events by improving the ability to intervene in a timely fashion. The studies analyzing the impact of monitoring and surveillance have yielded a variety of controversial results. In a study done by McCarley et al, a total of 132 chronic hemodialysis patients were followed prospectively for three consecutive study phases- 11 months of no monitoring (phase I), 12 months

of dynamic venous pressure monitoring (phase II) and 12 months of vascular access blood flow monitoring (phase III) (32). During the three study phases, graft thrombosis rate, hospital days, missed treatments and catheter use related to thrombosis events were all reduced during phase III compared to phase I and II. Percutaneous angioplasty procedures increased during phase II and III but the total cost of treatment for thrombosis related events for grafts and fistulas were reduced. In a randomized controlled study, Ram et al evaluated whether intervention based upon Qa (access flow, done monthly) or stenosis (duplex ultrasound, done quarterly) provide a benefit when added to intervention based upon clinical criteria alone (13). The preemptive PTA rate in the control group (0.22/patient per year) was two-thirds the rate in the flow-monitoring group (0.34/patient per year was referred for angiogram if Qa <650 ml/min or 20% decrease in Qa from baseline (13). Graft surveillance using access flow (Qa) increased the detection of stenosis, compared with standard surveillance (dynamic venous pressure and physical examination); however, intervention with angioplasty did not seem to improve the time to graft thrombosis or time to graft loss) and was the highest in the stenosis group (0.65/patient per year). The percentage of thrombosed grafts were similar in the control (47%) and flow-monitoring groups (53%) but were reduced in the stenosis group (29%, p=0.10). However, two year graft survival was similar in the control, flow-monitoring and stenosis groups (62%, 60% and 64%, respectively) (p=0.89). In another randomized, blinded, controlled trial of 112 patients with AVG, only the treatment group.

Intra-access pressure (IAP) has been promoted as a method of access surveillance. A number of studies have shown conflicting results (10-12). Schwab et al found that access replacement rates decreased by 73% after the implementation of dynamic venous pressure monitoring, and Besarab et al found a 76% reduction in access replacement rate with the use of static venous pressure monitoring. However, neither of these studies was randomized and both utilized historical control groups. Another study showed that intra-access pressure measurement is important in the detection of stenosis of vascular grafts and not in arteriovenous fistula (AVF) (33). Similarly, venous access pressure ratio test (VAPRT) improved sensitivity and specificity for detection of an arteriovenous graft dysfunction (34). However, static intraaccess pressure measurement as a surveillance method failed to show correlation with access blood flow (35). Thus, standardized monitoring of either venous pressure (VP) or access flow (Qa) or the combination of both and subsequent corrective intervention can reduce thrombosis rate in vascular grafts. These surveillance strategies were shown to be equally effective in reducing thrombosis rates in another study (36).

Based on these studies, there remains a concern that interventions based on monitoring and surveillance may not be effective in maintaining access patency or prolonging its life. Randomized trial of prophylactic intervention of AV graft stenosis found no improvement in the primary patency rate except in a subset analysis of

"virgin" grafts (grafts with no previous surgical revision, angioplasty or thrombectomy) (37-38). A randomized study of 64 patients with elevated static venous pressure measured in upper extremity AV grafts, comparing intervention (prophylactic angiography and/or angioplasty) strategy and observation, failed to improve/prolong graft survival (13).

6. WHAT SHOULD A CLINICIAN DO?

Vascular access dysfunction remains a prevalent problem in hemodialysis. There is no uniformity in defining vascular access dysfunction by various researchers and numerous methods to describe anatomical and functional abnormalities have been proposed. Most methods of monitoring rely on clinical parameters which can be obtained by simple bedside examination; however, these methods are not routinely practiced in the dialysis clinics. Surveillance, on the other hand, requires use of technology and involves significant costs. Done properly and on a regular schedule, these methods have the potential to keep the access patent, avoid catheter use, decrease hospitalization and improve the quality of life for the dialysis patient. The controversial evidence regarding the predictive value of such research so far is a result of the differences in methodology and use of a variety of parameters. It has to be kept in mind that the methods useful in assessment of AV graft are not necessarily applicable to AV fistula. Moreover, inaccurate data has the risk of increasing the number of interventions without clinical benefit, and can cause harm because interventions have the potential to incite more aggressive vascular response and restenosis (39-40).

Despite the controversy regarding the value of monitoring and surveillance, the 'Conditions of Coverage' for dialysis providers mandate monitoring with appropriate and timely referrals to achieve and sustain vascular access. Further, evidence of periodic monitoring and surveillance of the vascular access should be documented and reviewed to take appropriate action. While monitoring is reimbursed in the dialysis composite payment in the United States, there is no separate funding for routine surveillance. In this era of restrictive payment systems, issues related to processes of monitoring and surveillance are important in determining the most cost-effective, convenient and highly accurate strategy of maintaining a vascular access. If done consistently, monitoring alone may provide clues to the majority of access problems. While surveillance may add only small benefits in this group of patients, it may be far more important where routine monitoring is not practiced.

Locally available expertise will remain the most important factor in determining the best approach for monitoring and surveillance of vascular access at a given center. In the absence of conclusive data, it will be important to pursue randomized research in this area to assess the impact of monitoring and surveillance on outcomes related not only to the longevity and performance of vascular access, but also to the reduction of morbidity, cost and improvement in quality of life.

7. REFERENCES

- 1. Allon, M. and M.L. Robbin: Increasing arteriovenous fistulas in hemodialysis patients: problems and solutions. Kidney Int $\,62\,(4),\,1109\text{-}24\,(2002)$
- 2. Hakim, RM, Breyer J, Ismail N, Schulman G: Effects of dose of dialysis on morbidity and mortality. Am J Kidney Dis 23 (5),661-9 (1994)
- 3. Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services: 2003 Annual Report. End Stage Renal Disease Clinical Performance Measures Project. Baltimore, MD, Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, Center for Beneficiary Choices (2003)
- 4. J. J. Sands and C.L. Miranda: Prolongation of hemodialysis access survival with elective revision. Clin Nephrol 44 (5),329-33 (1995)
- 5. Schwab SJ, Oliver MJ, Suhocki P, McCann R: Hemodialysis arteriovenous access: detection of stenosis and response to treatment by vascular access blood flow. Kidney Int 59 (1),358-62 (2001)
- 6. National Kidney Foundation N/DOQI clinical practice guidelines for vascular access 2000. Am J Kid Dis 37 (Suppl 1), S137-S181 (2001) accessed June, 2011.
- 7. A. J. Collins, Roberts TL, St Peter WL, Chen SC, Ebben J, Constantini E: United States Renal Data System assessment of the impact of the National Kidney Foundation-Dialysis Outcomes Quality Initiative guidelines. Am J Kidney Dis 39 (4), 784-95 (2002)
- 8. Department of Health and Human Services Center for Medicare and Medicail Services: Adult in-center hemodialysis patients- vascular access. 2003 Annual Report ESRD Clinical Performance Measures Project 2003, p 30.
- 9. J.S. Garland, L.M. Moist, and R.M. Lindsay: Are hemodialysis access flow measurements by ultrasound dilution the standard of care for access surveillance? Adv Ren Replace Ther 9 (2), 91-8 (2002)
- 10. Schwab SJ, Raymond JR, Saeed M, Newman GE, Dennis PA, Bollinger RR: Prevention of hemodialysis fistula thrombosis. Early detection of venous stenoses. Kidney Int 36 (4), 707-11 (1989)
- 11. Besarab A, Sullivan KL, Ross RP, Moritz MJ: Utility of intra-access pressure monitoring in detecting and correcting venous outlet stenoses prior to thrombosis. Kidney Int 47 (5), 1364-73 (1995)
- 12. L.M. Dember, E.F. Holmberg, and J.S. Kaufman: Randomized controlled trial of prophylactic repair of hemodialysis arteriovenous graft stenosis. Kidney Int 66 (1), 390-8 (2004)
- 13. Ram SJ, Work J, Caldito GC, Eason JM, Pervez A, Paulson WD.: A randomized controlled trial of blood flow

- and stenosis surveillance of hemodialysis grafts. Kidney Int 64 (1), 272-80 (2003)
- 14. Moist LM, Churchill DN, House AA, Millward SF, Elliott JE, Kribs SW, DeYoung WJ, Blythe L, Slitt LW, Lindsay RM: Regular monitoring of access flow compared with monitoring of venous pressure fails to improve graft survival. J Am Soc Nephrol 14 (10), 2645-53 (2003)
- 15. KDOQI guideline 4: Detection of access dysfunction: Monitoring, surveillance, and diagnostic testing. Am J Kid Disease 48, S210-S233 (2006), accessed June, 2011
- 16. Medicare and Medicaid programs: Conditions for coverage for end stage renal disease facilities: rules and regulations, part II, Department of Health and Human Services. Federal Register 73, 20370-20482 (2008)
- 17. Asif A; Leon C; Orozco-Vargas LC; Krishnamurthy G; Choi KL; Mercado C; Merrill D; Thomas I; Salman L; Artikov S; Bourgoignie JJ.: Accuracy of physical examination in the detection of arteriovenous fistula stenosis. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol 2 (6),1191-4 (2007)
- 18. R.P. Campos, Chula DC, Perreto S, Riella MC, do nascimento MM:: Accuracy of physical examination and intra-access pressure in the detection of stenosis in hemodialysis arteriovenous fistula. Semin Dial 21 (3), 269-73 (2008)
- 19. Identification of A/V fistula and graft problems; Guidelines. Vascularaccesssociety.com, accessed June 16, 2011.
- 20. W.L. Whittier: Surveillance of hemodialysis vascular access. Semin Intervent Radiol 26 (2),130-8 (2009)
- 21. T. Petitclerc: From sodium to dialysis quantification. Nephrol. Ther 3:S121-5 (2007)
- 22. Gotch FA, Buyaki R, Panlilio, Folden T: Measurement of blood access flow rate during hemodialysis from conductivity dialysance. ASAIO J 45 (3):139-46 (1999)
- 23. Tonelli M, Klarenbach S, Jindal K, Harries S, Zuidema S, Caldwell S, Pannu N: Access flow in arteriovenous accesses by optodilutional and ultrasound dilution methods. Am J Kidney Dis 46 (5): 933-7 (2005).
- 24. Roca-Tey R, Samon R, Ibrik O, Ginenez I, Viladoms J.: (Measurement of vascular access blood flow rate during hemodyalisis in 38 patients using the thermodilution technique. A comparative study with the Delta-H method). Nefrologia 28 (4), 447-52 (2008)
- 25.

http://hemametrics.com/main.jsp?page=productsContent.jsp.. Accessed June 16, 2011.

26. J.J. Sands, L.M. Ferrell, and M.A. Perry: The role of color flow Doppler ultrasound in dialysis access. Semin Nephrol, 22 (3), 195-201 (2002)

- 27. Finlay DE, Longley DG, Foshager MC, Letourneau JG.: Duplex and color Doppler sonography of hemodialysis arteriovenous fistulas and grafts. Radiographics,13 (5), 983-9 (1993)
- 28. Grogan J, Castilla M, Lozanski L, Griffin A, Loth F, Bassiouny H.: Frequency of critical stenosis in primary arteriovenous fistulae before hemodialysis access: should duplex ultrasound surveillance be the standard of care? J Vasc Surg 41 (6), 1000-6 (2005)
- 29. Doelman C, Duijm LE, Liem YS, Froger CL, Tielbeek AV, Donkers-van Rossum AB, Cuypers PW, Douwes-Draaijer P, Buth J, van den Bosch HC: Stenosis detection in failing hemodialysis access fistulas and grafts: comparison of color Doppler ultrasonography, contrast-enhanced magnetic resonance angiography, and digital subtraction angiography. J Vasc Surg 42 (4), 739-46 (2005)
- 30. KDOQI Clinical Practice Guidelines for Vascular Access. Am J Kidney Dis 48 (Suppl 1),S176-S273 (2006)
- 31. D. Schneditz, A.M. Kaufman, and N. Levin: Surveillance of access function by the blood temperature monitor. Semin Dial 16 (6), 483-7 (2003)
- 32. McCarley P, Wingard R, Shyr Y, Pettus W, Hakim RM, Ikizler TA: Vascular access blood flow monitoring reduces access morbidity and costs. Kidney Int 60 (3), 1164-72 (2001)
- 33Besarab A, Lubkowski T, Frinak S, Ramanathan S, Escobar F: Detecting vascular access dysfunction. ASAIO J 43 (5), M539-43 (1997)
- 34. Frinak S, Zasuwa G, Dunfee T, Besarab A, Yee J: Dynamic venous access pressure ratio test for hemodialysis access monitoring. Am J Kidney Dis 40 (4), 760-8 (2002)
- 35 Spergel LM, Holland JE, Fadem SZ, McAllister CJ, Peacock EJ: Static intra-access pressure ratio does not correlate with access blood flow. Kidney Int 66 (4), 1512-6 (2004)
- 36. Smits JH, van der Linden J, Hagen EC, Modderkolk-Cammeraat EC, Feith GW, Koomans HA, van den Dorpel MA, Blankestijn PJ: Graft surveillance: venous pressure, access flow, or the combination? Kidney Int 59 (4), 1551-8 (2001)
- 37. Lumsden AB, MacDonald MJ, Kikeri D, Cotsonis GA, Harker LA, Martin LG: Prophylactic balloon angioplasty fails to prolong the patency of expanded polytetrafluoroethylene arteriovenous grafts: results of a prospective randomized study. J Vasc Surg 26 (3), 382-90; discussion 390-2 (1997)
- 38. Martin LG, MacDonald MJ, Kikeri D, Cotsonis GA, Harker LA, Lumsden AB: Prophylactic angioplasty reduces thrombosis in virgin ePTFE arteriovenous dialysis grafts with greater than 50% stenosis: subset analysis of a

- prospectively randomized study. J Vasc Interv Radiol 10 (4), 389-96 (1999)
- 39. Chang CJ, Ko PJ, Hsu LA, Ko YS, Ko YL, Chen CF, Huang CC, Hsu TS, Lee YS, Pang JH: Highly increased cell proliferation activity in the restenotic hemodialysis vascular access after percutaneous transluminal angioplasty: implication in prevention of restenosis. Am J Kidney Dis 43 (1), 74-84 (2004)
- 40. Levit RD, Cohen RM, Kwok A, Shlansky-Goldberg RD, Clark TW, Patel AA, Stavropoulos SW, Mondschein JI, Solomon JA, Tuite CM, Trerotola SO: Asymptomatic central venous stenosis in hemodialysis patients. Radiology 238 (3), 1051-6 (2006)
- **Key Words:** Hemodialysis access, Monitoring, Surveillance, Access flow, Stenosis, Stenotic lesion, Venous pressure, Recirculation, Review
- Send correspondence to: Anil K. Agarwal, The Ohio State University, 395 W 12th Avenue, Ground Floor, Columbus, Ohio 43210, Tel: 614 293 4997, Fax: 614 293 3073, E-mail: Anil.agarwal@osumc.edu